Female gametophyte-specific gene induction system: Development and application to analyses of female gametogenesis in *Arabidopsis thaliana*

Dukhyun Hwang

Contents

Abbreviations	1
Abstract	2
Introduction	4
Materials and Methods	11
Plant materials and growth conditions	11
Plasmid construction and plant transformation	11
Heat treatment of pistils	14
Microscopy	14
Statistical analysis	15
Results	16
Development of a FG-specific gene induction system	16
ES2 promoter allows gene expression from the FG4 stage	
Mild heat treatment induce target gene expression in FGs	20
Efficient gene induction in FGs was achieved by short and mild heat treatment inflorescences	of pistils and23
Expression of a dominant-negative mutant of SUN proteins in developing FG causes fusion of polar nuclei	defects in the25
Expression of SUNDN-Mut in FG did not cause the polar nuclear fusion defect	
Discussion	
References	
Acknowledgments	45

Abbreviations

Cter	C-terminus
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
ES2	EMBRYO SAC2
FG	female gametophyte
GFP	green fluorescent protein
H2B	histone H2B
HS	heat shock
HSP	heat shock protein
J protein	DnaJ/Hsp40-family co-chaperone
KASH	Klarsicht/ANC/SYNE homology
LINC	linker of nucleoskeleton and cytoskeleton
NosT	NOPALINE SYNTHASE terminator
COXIV	cytochrome c oxidase subunit IV
SUN	Sad1/UNC-84
SUNDN	SUN dominant negative
T-DNA	transfer DNA
WIPs	WPP domain-interacting proteins
WPP	tryptophan-proline-proline

Female gametophyte-specific gene induction system: Development and application to analyses of female gametogenesis in *Arabidopsis thaliana*

Dukhyun Hwang

Abstract

Flowering plants grow through somatic cell division, and leave their offspring through reproduction, which is an important lifetime. Plant reproduction involves gametophyte formation, fertilization, and embryogenesis. Female gametophyte (FG) is crucial for reproduction in flowering plants. Mutational analyses using Arabidopsis thaliana have identified genes and proteins involved in FG development. Techniques that induce gene expression by different external factors have been used as powerful tools for the analyses of various gene functions in plants. In this study, I developed a new method to analyze gene functions during female gametophyte development using heat-inducible Cre/loxP recombination system and FG-specific EMBRYO SAC 2 (ES2) promoter. Gene expression from the ES2 promoter can be detected from the four-nucleated FG stage. Efficient gene induction can be achieved by mild heat treatment at 35°C for 5 min. I applied this method to study gene functions in the fusion of polar nuclei during FG development. Sad1/UNC84 (SUN) proteins are conserved inner nuclear membrane proteins, which interact with the Klarsicht/ANC-1/Syne homology (KASH) proteins spanning the outer nuclear membrane. A. thaliana has five SUN protein genes. I used this system to express a dominant-negative mutant of SUN proteins (SUNDN) in developing FGs. Expression of SUNDN resulted in inhibition of the polar nuclear fusion, while expression of a SUNDN mutant, which does not interact with KASH proteins, did not cause the polar nuclear fusion defect. These results suggest roles of SUN-KASH interactions in the fusion of polar nuclei. The heat-inducible gene expression system developed in this study provides a new strategy for analyzing gene functions in FG development and FG functions.

Introduction

Angiosperms have a distinct fertilization process in which two female gametes, the egg cell and the central cells, are both fertilized (Figure 1; Hamamura et al., 2011). Female gametophyte (FG) is crucial to reproductive process in angiosperms (Christensen et al., 1997). FG development requires several fundamental cellular process, such as vacuole formation, mitosis, nuclear migration, cell wall formation, and nuclear fusion (Christensen et al., 2002).

There are several patterns of FG developmental processes in angiosperms. Most flowering plants including *Arabidopsis thaliana* have *Polygonum*-type FGs, which is consisted of one egg cell, one central cell, two synergid cells and three antipodal cells (Figure 2; Yadegari and Drews 2004). The development of a FG within a developing ovule consists of two phases, megasporogenesis and megagametogenesis. During megasporogenesis, four haploid megaspores are produced after meiosis. During megagametogenesis, three of the four megaspore degenerate, while one surviving megaspore develops into the mature FG. The megaspore containing a single haploid nucleus (stage FG1) undergoes three rounds of mitoses. After the second mitosis, a four-nucleate cell, with two nuclei at each pole (stage FG4), is produced. Cellularization starts after the third mitosis, resulting in the formation of a sevencelled and eight-nucleate FG (stage FG5). The central cell contains two polar nuclei that migrate toward the center of the FG and fuse to form the secondary nucleus before fertilization (stage FG6) in *A. thaliana* and other species (Christensen et al., 1998; Yadegari and Drews, 2004; Drews and Koltnow, 2011).

Genes required for megagametogenesis have been identified in large-scale screenings for FG mutants (Christensen et al., 1998; Pagnussat et al., 2005; Brukhin et al., 2011). Genes



Figure 1. Fertilization of Arabidopsis

Fertilization of flowering plants starts from adhesion of pollen grains on the pistil. Pollen grains adsorb water from the pistil and germinate. Pollen tubes grow in the pistil and are guided to the female gametophytes. Upon entry of the pollen tube into the ovule, two sperm cells are released into the female gametophyte. One sperm fertilizes the egg cell producing embryo and the second fertilizes the central cell producing endosperm.



Figure 2. FG development in Arabidopsis

The megaspore contains a single nucleus (FG1), which undergoes three rounds of mitosis. After the second mitosis, a four nucleate cell is produced (FG4). After the third mitosis, cellularization is started and resulted in the formation of a seven-celled and eight-nucleate FG (FG5). The central cell contains two polar nuclei that fuse to the secondary nucleus (FG6). The antipodal cells degenerate, producing the stage FG7. required for FG functions also have been identified in screenings of genes expressed specifically in FGs (Kasahara et al., 2005; Yu et al., 2005; Johnston et al., 2007; Steffen et al., 2007; Wuest et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2010; Takeuchi and Higashiyama, 2012; Sprunck et al., 2012). Phenotypic analyses of mutants identified in these screenings or those obtained using reverse genetics approaches have been used to reveal the role of the identified genes in FG development and FG functions. Techniques that induce gene expression by different external factors have been used as powerful tools for the analyses of various gene functions in plants (Moore et al., 2006).

In order to analyze the function of genes, Cre-*loxP* mediated recombination has been used to analyze the specific gene functions in cell populations from an extensive range of tissues (McLellan et al., 2017). By using this system, gene expression by targeted insertion and deletion of a DNA fragment from the chromosome can be regulated temporally and spatially and also precisely. (Wang et al., 2005). The heat-inducible gene induction system has been used for mosaic analysis (Sieburth et al., 1998), conditional gene knockout (Nagahara et al., 2015), and transgene induction in somatic cells (Ogawa et al., 2015).

Promoters that allow gene expression in developing and mature FGs have been identified. The *EMBRYO SAC2 (ES2)* promoter gene encodes a protein related to self-incompatibility proteins and its promoter activity was detected in the embryo sac from the FG3 stage to FG7 (Steffen et al., 2007; Yu et al., 2005). An inducible gene expression system that allow gene expression in developing FGs can be constructed using heat-inducible Cre*-loxP* mediated recombination and the *ES2* promoter.

Linker of nucleoskeleton and cytoskeleton (LINC) complexes are protein complexes

in the nuclear envelope, which are crucial for various cellular processes including duplication, chromosome decondensation, anchorage of spindle pole body and centrosomes to the nuclear envelope (NE), meiotic chromosome bouquet formation, and telomere anchorage (Graumann et al., 2010). The LINC complex is consisted of the Sad1/UNC-84 (SUN) protein in the inner nuclear envelope and the Klarsicht/ANC/SYNE homology (KASH) proteins in the outer nuclear envelope (Figure 3). SUN proteins contain a conserved SUN domain in the luminal side, which interacts KASH proteins (Graumann et al., 2010).

Plant SUN proteins are divided two types, Cter-SUN proteins conserved in land plants and mid-SUN proteins conserved throughout the plant kingdom (Zhou et al., 2015a; Groves et al., 2018). Cter-SUN proteins contain a nucleoplasmic domain, a transmembrane domain, a coiled-coil domain, and the C-terminus SUN domain (Groves et al., 2018). Cter-SUN proteins in plants are similar in size to SUN proteins of yeast and mammals. Arabidopsis SUN 1 (AtSUN1) and AtSUN2 are classified as Cter-SUN proteins (Zhou et al., 2015a). Arabidopsis has three mid-SUN proteins (AtSUN3, AtSUN4, and AtSUN5) that contain SUN domains located between two transmembrane domains (Groves et al., 2018). T-DNA mutant lines for Arabidopsis SUN protein genes are available. However, there are difficulties in construction of multiple sun knock-out plants because SUN proteins are essential for plant viability (Graumann et al., 2014). A dominant-negative mutant of SUN protein (SUNDN) was developed, and SUN protein functions in fertility, NE formation, nucleoskeletal anchorage and plant meiosis have been shown using SUNDN (Zhou et al., 2015a; Zhou et al., 2015b; Varas et al., 2015). Mutant analysis of WPP domain-interacting proteins (WIPs), a class of Arabidopsis KASH proteins, showed involvement of these proteins in nuclear shape and size and pollen fertility, suggesting functions of LINC complexes in these processes (Zhou et al., 2015b; Poulet et al., 2017).



Figure 3. SUN and KASH proteins

A trimer of SUN proteins located in the inner nuclear membrane interacts with a KASH protein of the outer nuclear membrane in the perinuclear space. The SUN-KASH protein interaction links cytoskeleton and nuclear lamina. In budding yeast (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*), the SUN protein Mps3/Nep98 was shown to be required for nuclear fusion (karyogamy) during mating (Nishikawa et al., 2003). The mechanisms of nuclear fusion in yeast (karyogamy) and Arabidopsis (polar nuclear fusion) are similar. Both processes proceed without nuclear envelope breakdown; nuclear fusion is achieved by sequential fusions of the outer and inner nuclear membranes. Studies report the involvement of BiP, a molecular chaperone HSP70 in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), and its regulatory partners, J-protein family co-chaperones (J proteins), in these processes (Rose et al., 1989; Nishikawa and Endo, 1997; Brizzio et al., 1999; Maruyama et al., 2010; Maruyama et al., 2014). The SUN protein Mps3/Nep98 interacts with Jem1, a J protein required for karyogamy (Nishikawa and Endo, 1997; Nishikawa et al., 2003). Therefore, potential role of SUN proteins in polar nuclear fusion can be tested by expression of SUNDN in developing FGs.

In this study, I developed a new gene induction system in developing FGs, Using this system, expression of SUNDN in developing FGs was achieved. Expression of SUNDN caused defects in the polar nuclear fusion, indicating that the roles of SUN proteins in this process. The gene induction system can be used as a new tool for analyses of gene functions in plant reproduction research.

Materials and Methods

Plant materials and growth conditions

The heat shock promoter (HS)-Cre line of *A. thaliana* (Ogawa et al., 2015), provided by Dr. Taku Takahashi at the Okayama University, Okayama, Japan, was used in this study. Seeds were sterilized on the surface and sown on soil or Murashige and Skoog (MS) medium (Wako, Osaka, Japan) containing 0.7% agar and 1% sucrose. Plants were grown at 22°C under continuous light.

Plasmid construction and plant transformation

Primers used for plasmid construction were listed in Table 1. A 1.5 kb DNA fragment containing the *loxP-HISTONE H2B-NosT-loxP* cassette was amplified by PCR from pDME100 using loxP-H2BF-infusion and loxP-H2BR-infusion2 primers. pDME100 was generated by cloning the 1.5 kb *HISTONE H2B-NosT-loxP* fragment, which was amplified from *pRPS5A::H2B-GFP* (Adachi et al., 2011) using pENTR_H2B_F and loxP-NOSter_R primers, into the pENTR/D-TOPO vector (Invitrogen, Massachusetts, USA). The amplified fragment was inserted into the *Xba*I site of pGWB501 (Nakagawa et al., 2007) using the In-Fusion HD Cloning Kit (Clontech, Mountain View, USA) to generate pSW1. And 1.1 kb DNA fragment containing the *ES2* promoter, and amplified from the Arabidopsis genomic DNA using 1g26795-F and 1g26795-R primers, which was cloned into the *Hind*III site of pSW1 using In-Fusion HD Cloning Kit; therefore, generates pSW9. Also, 0.8 kb DNA fragment containing *pCOXIV-GFP* was amplified using pCOXIV-F and GFP-R primers and cloned into the pENTR/D-TOPO vector to generate pSW1.

The fusion SUNDN gene was constructed as follows. DNA fragment corresponding to amino acid residues 129-455 of SUN, containing the C-terminal ER retention signal was amplified from a cDNA clone RAFL19-33-G08 (provided by RIKEN Bio Resource Center) using Sun2LmF and Sun2LmR primers. Then it cloned into the pENTR/D-TOPO vector to generate pSNA115. DNA fragment corresponding to amino acid residues 1–40 of Arabidopsis 2S1, which is the signal sequence, was amplified from the Arabidopsis genomic DNA using 2S1F and 2S1RFPR primer. DNA fragment corresponding to amino acid residues 1-237 of tagRFP was amplified from pTagRFP-C (Evrogen, Moscow, Russia) using tagRFPCDSF and tagRFPCDSR primers. DNA fragment corresponding to amino acid residues 129-455 of SUN2 with the C-terminal ER retention signal was amplified from pSNA115 using primers RFPSUN2F and SUN2HDELR. Total three amplified DNA fragments were ligated using the In-Fusion HD Cloning Kit and then cloned into the pENTR/D-TOPO vector to generate pSNA118. The SUNDN-Mut sequence contained point mutation of H434A and Y438F in SUN2 (Zhou et al., 2015b). These mutations were introduced by PCR amplification of pSNA118 using primers SUN2dMut-Fw and SUN2dMut-Rv primers, followed by selfligation. The constructs for pCOXIV-GFP, SUNDN and SUNDN-Mut were introduced into pSW9 using LR clonase II (Invitrogen).

To generate transgenic lines, *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* stain GV3101 was introduced into Arabidposis plants using the floral-dip method (Clough and Bent, 1998). Transgenic plants were selected on MS agar plants containing 50μ g/ml hydromycin and subsequently transferred to soil. Transgenic plants in the T₂ generation, which were homozygous for the transgene were selected by observation of FGs by fluorescent microscopy and used for further experiments.

Table 1. List of primers used in this study

Primer name	Primer sequence $(5' \rightarrow 3')$
loxP-H2BF-infusion	GCAGGTCGACTCTAGATAACTTCGTATAGCATACATTAT ACGAAGTTATATGGCACCAAGAGCCGAG
loxP-H2BR-infusion2	TGTTGATAACTCTAGGCTCCGCGGCCGCACTAGT
pENTR_H2B_F	CACCATGGCACCAAGAGCCGAGAAG
loxP-NOSter_R	ACTAGTATAACTTCGTATAATGTATGCTATACGAAGTTA TGATCTAGTAACATAGATGACACCGC
1g26795-F	GGCCAGTGCCAAGCTTTGATCTCTCTTTCAGTG
1g26795-R	GCAGGCATGCAAGCTGAGTGTGTTTTACTTTTA
pCOXIV-F	CACCATGCTTTCACTACGTCAATC
GFP-R	TTACTTGTACAGCTCGTCCATGCCGTGAGT
SUN2LmF	CACCAGGAAATTGACTTTGAAGGAT
SUN2LmR	TCACAATTCATCATGGTGGTGATGGTGATGCCCACCTCCA GCATGAGCAACAGAGACTGA
2S1F	GCCGCCCCTTCACCATGGCAAACAAGTTGTTCCT
2S1RFPR	GCCCTTAGACACCATGCCTATGGGGTTAGTGGCGT
tagRFPCDSF	ATGGTGTCTAAGGGCGAAGAGCTG
tagRFPCDSR	ATTAAGTTTGTGCCCCAGTTTGCT
RFPSUN2F	GGGCACAAACTTAATAGGAAATTGACTTTGAAGGA
SUN2HDELR	GGCGCGCCCACCCTTTCACAATTCATCATGGTGGT
SUN2dMut-Fw	TGCATCTTCCGCTTCAGGGTT
SUN2dMut-Rv	AGTGGCTGAAGAGCTTCCATG

Heat treatment of pistils

At late stage 12 pistils were used for heat treatment. Isolated pistil was placed in 0.2 ml of PCR tube containing ovule culture medium (50 μ l) (Gooh et al., 2015). Samples were heated from 30 to 40 °C in a thermal cycler (Dice Gradient, Takara, Bio). The heated pistils were incubated at 22°C under the dark conditions. Also, other heat treatment was conducted. Pistils were emasculated 4 h before then applied by immersing in water at 35°C. For repeated heat treatments, inflorescences were heated at 35°C for 5 min in three times (0 h, 16 h, and 24 h). Plants were then brought back to the growth room at 22°C and incubated under continuous light.

Microscopy

Ovules were dissected from pistils, mounted in a multi-well glass bottom dish containing 400 µl of ovule culture medium, and then analyzed by confocal laser scanning microscopy (CLSM). Whole ovules in pistils were fixed and cleared with ClearSee (Kurihara et al., 2015), then analyzed by CLSM. For CLSM, a Leica TCS-SP8 confocal microscope was used with a 20x multi-immersion objective lens (PL APO CS2 20x /0.75 IMM CORR HC; Leica Microsystems) or a 40x or 63x water-immersion objective lens (40x; PL APO CS 40x/ 1.10 W CORR HC, 63x; PL APO CS 63x 1.20 W CORR HC; Leica Microsystems). To analyze the GFP fluorescence, fluorescence images at 495–540 nm were captured after excitation at 488 nm with a solid-state laser. To analyze the tagRFP and chlorophyll fluorescence, fluorescence images at 560–650 nm (tagRFP) and 560–700 nm (chlorophyll) were captured after excitation with a 552 nm solid-state laser. The acquired images were processed using the LASX software

(Leica Microsystems) to create maximum intensity, then processed using Adobe Photoshop CC (Adobe Systems Inc., San Joes, CA).

Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using the R software (R 3.5.2; R Core Team, 2018).

Results

Development of a FG-specific gene induction system

In this study, I developed a new gene induction system that allows FG-specific expression of a target gene by heat treatment. The developed gene induction system is consisted of two gene constructs (Fig. 4), heat-inducible Cre-*loxP* recombination and *A. thaliana* FG-specific *EMBRYO SAC 2 (ES2)* promoter (At1g26795) (Yu et al., 2005; Pagnussat et al., 2007). The driver construct consists of Cre recombinase coding sequence and *A. thaliana HEAT SHOCK PROTEIN18.2 (HSP18.2)* gene promoter placed in downstream of Cre recombinase (Ogawa et al., 2015). The effector cassette includes *loxP*-flanked regions containing *HISTONE H2B-GFP* (*H2B-GFP*) coding sequence and *NOPALINE SYNTHASE* terminator (*NosT*). This sequence was located between the *ES2* promoter and the target gene. A short heat treatment was expected to induce Cre-*loxP* site recombination and result in removal of the *H2B-GFP-NosT* cassette. Continued expression of the target gene from the *ES2* promoter was expected to take place after the removal of heat. To examine the gene induction system, I used the gene for pCOXIV-GFP, which is a fusion protein between GFP and mitochondria target sequence of yeast cytochrome c oxidase subunit IV (Maruyama et al., 2015) as a target gene and generated transgenic lines.



Figure 4. Schematic representation of the gene induction system

A sequence containing the *EMBRYO SAC2* promoter (*pES2*) driving the coding sequence of histone *H2B-GFP* fusion (*H2B-GFP*) and *NOPALINE SYNTHASE* terminator (*NosT*) flanked by two loxP sequences on either side in the same orientation, followed by the coding sequence of yeast cytochrome c oxidase subumit 4 (*pCOXIV*) fused to GFP (*pCOXIV-GFP*). This construct was introduced into the HS-Cre line expressing the Cre recombinase under the control of the Arabidopsis *HSP18.2* promoter (*pHSP18.2 Cre*). Ovules or pistils of transgenic plants were treated at 35°C for ~5 min induced Cre-*lox*P recombination, resulting in the expression of *pCOXIV-GFP* from the *ES2* promoter.

ES2 promoter allows gene expression from the FG4 stage

Ovules isolated from the transgenic plant were analyzed by CLSM. Expression of *H2B-GFP* from the *ES2* promoter was observed in the nuclei of developing FGs at between the FG4 and FG6 stages (Figure 5). This result suggests that gene induction is able to apply in developing FGs from the FG4 stage and also in mature FGs.



Figure 5. Images of ovules from the transgenic plants

Images of FG4, FG5, and FG6 ovules are shown. GFP fluorescence (green), chlorophyll autofluorescence (magenta), and merged images are shown. SN, synergid nuclei; PN, polar nuclei; SEN, secondary nucleus; EN, egg nucleus; AN, antipodal cell nuclei. Scale bar = 25μ m

Mild heat treatment induce target gene expression in FGs

HSP 18.2 promoter expression is induced by heat treatment at 35–37°C (Takahashi et al., 1992; Ogawa et al., 2015). Pistils of the transgenic plants were heated by immersing whole inflorescences in distilled water at 35°C for 5 min. 16 h after the heat treatment, ovules were dissected from the pistils and analyzed by CLSM. Punctate GFP signals were observed in FG cells (Figure 6 D–F), which were not observed in ovules from pistils without heat treatment (Figure 6 A–C). At high magnifications, tubular GFP signals were observed, which are characteristic to mitochondria staining (Figure 7 D and F). These results indicate that the *pCOXIV-GFP* is expressed from the *ES2* promoter. These results also indicate that the expression of Cre protein expression after heat treatment led to the recombination in FG cells. In spite of the deletion of the *H2B-GFP* cassette by Cre-*loxP* site-specific recombination, GFP signal was observed in the nucleus. This was probably due to stability of the *H2B-GFP* fusion protein.



Figure 6. Induction of FG-specific gene expression by heat treatment

(A–C) Images of a transgenic FG6 ovule. (D–F) Images of a FG6 ovule isolated from a pistil which was heated at 35°C for 5 min and further incubated at 22°C for 16 h. GFP fluorescence (A and D, green), chlorophyll autofluorescence (B and E, magenta), and merged (C and F) images are shown. SN, synergid nuclei; PN, polar nuclei; EN, egg nucleus; AN, antipodal cell nuclei; Scale bar = 25μ m



Figure 7. Images of a FG6 ovule isolated from a pistil that was heated at 35°C for 5 min and further incubated at 22°C for 18 h.

GFP fluorescence (A and D, green), chlorophyll autofluorescence (B and E, magenta), and merged (C and F) images are shown. (D-F) Magnification of a region shown as a box in (C). Scale bar; (A–C), 25 μm; (D–F), 10 μm

Efficient gene induction in FGs was achieved by short and mild heat treatment of pistils and inflorescences

Next, temperature and time dependency of the gene induction system was analyzed. The pistils were isolated from the transgenic plants at the late stage 12, immersed in the ovule culture medium (Gooh et al., 2015) and subjected to heat treatment using a thermal cycler. Then pistils were further incubated at 22°C, fixed and cleared by ClearSee (Kurihara et al., 2015). The *pCOXIV-GFP* expression was analyzed by CLSM. To analyze the gene induction of temperature dependency, pistils were heated at between 30–40°C for 1 min. Figure 8 A shows efficiencies of gene induction. Heat treatment at 35°C was the most efficient. At 35°C, 42 \pm 13% of ovules express *pCOXIV-GFP* signals in the FG. The results represent that heat induction system is efficient at 35°C. This temperature was used to analyze the time dependency of gene induction.

Time dependency in gene induction system was analyzed using flower buds from the transgenic plants. The late stage 12 flowers were emasculated and heat-treated by immersing whole inflorescence in water at 35°C for 1–20 min. After heat treatment, pistils were isolated, fixed and analyzed by CLSM. Figure 8 B shows that gene induction efficiency did not increase by longer heat treatment. The most efficient time was 1 min; however, the short heat treatment (~5 min) was sufficient time for applying gene induction system. These results indicate that a short (~5 min) heat treatment at 35°C is sufficient for achieving efficient gene induction in this system.



Figure 8. The temperature and time dependency of gene induction

(A) Pistils isolated from transgenic flowers at late stage 12 were heated at the indicated temperature (30, 33, 35, 37, and 40°C) for 1 min using a thermal cycler and further incubated at 22°C for 16 h. The percentage of ovules containing a *pCOXIV-GFP*-positive FG was scored for each pistil. Data represent mean \pm standard deviation ($n \ge 6$ for each temperature)

(B) Transgenic flowers at late stage were emasculated and heated by immersing a whole inflorescence in water at 35°C for the indicated times (1, 5, 10, and 20 min). After heat treatment, plants were incubated at 22°C for 16 h. The percentage of ovules containing a *pCOXIV-GFP*-positive FG was scored for each pistil. Data represent mean \pm standard deviation (*n* = 8 for each temperature).

Expression of a dominant-negative mutant of SUN proteins in developing FG causes defects in the fusion of polar nuclei

The constructed FG specific gene induction system was applied to the analysis of gene functions in FGs. I used this system to express a dominant negative mutant of SUN proteins in developing FGs. The dominant-negative approach is effective to analyze the protein function which is multiple genes such as *actin* (Kawashima et al., 2014). I chose SUN proteins from the following reasons. First, SUN proteins are encoded by multiple genes. Second, a dominant-negative mutant of SUN proteins is available (Zhou et al., 2015b). Figure 9 A shows that SUNDN consists of a N-terminal ER targeting signal sequence of Arabidopsis 2S albumin (SS), a tagRFP fluorescent protein, coiled-coil domain, SUN domains, and a C-terminal ER retention signal sequence (HDEL). Third, the yeast SUN protein Mps3/Nep98 was shown to be involved in nuclear fusion in yeast mating (Nishikawa et al., 2003), suggesting potential involvement of SUN proteins in nuclear fusion in Arabidopsis.

Using the gene induction system, transgenic plants expressing heat-inducible SUNDN in developing FGs were constructed. Figure 9 B–D shows the results of SUNDN induction by heat treatment. Early to middle stage 12 flowers of transgenic lines were treated at 35°C for 5 min; this treatment was repeated three times at 0, 16, and 24 h relative to the first heat treatment. 40 h after the third heat treatment, the ovules were dissected and observed by CLSM. Fluorescence signals of tagRFP (Figure 9 C and F) were observed in the FG of 65–80% of ovules in heat-treated pistils (Figure 10 A), indicating the induction of SUNDN by heat treatment in three independent lines. No tagRFP signal was observed in ovules of transgenic lines without heat treatment. The tagRFP-positive ovules containing unfused polar nuclei (Figure 9 B–D) and the secondary nucleus (Figure 9 E–G). Defective polar nuclear fusion was

observed in ~45% of tagRFP-positive ovules but not in tagRFP-negative ovules (Figure 10 B). No polar nuclear fusion defect was observed in pistils without heat treatment, suggesting a correlation between the polar nuclear fusion defect and SUNDN expression.





Figure 9. Expression of a dominant-negative mutant of SUN protein in developing FGs

(A) Schematic representation of Arabidopsis SUN2 and SUNDN proteins. Numbers above SUN2 indicate the first and last amino acid residues of SUN2. SUNDN is consisted of the signal sequence of Arabidopsis 2S albumin (SS) fused to tagRFP, the luminal domain of SUN2

containing the SUN domain (SUN), and coiled-coil (CC) domain tagged with the C-terminal ER retention signal (GGGHHHHHHDEL). TM shows the transmembrane region of SUN2.

(B–G) Representative images of an ovule after the induction of SUNDN in the developing FG. (B–D); polar nuclear unfusion; (E–G); polar nuclear fusion. Transgenic flowers at late stage 12, expressing SUNDN from the *ES2* promoter using heat-inducible Cre-*loxP*-based site-specific recombination, were emasculated and heat by immersing the whole inflorescence in water at 35°C for 5 min. Ovules were dissected from the heat-treated pistil at 16 h after the treatment and analyzed by CLSM. Images are shown as GFP fluorescence (green), tagRFP fluorescence (magenta), and merged. Scale bar = $25\mu m$.

SN, synergid nuclei; UPN, unfused polar nuclei; SEN, secondary nucleus; AN, antipodal cell nuclei

Expression of SUNDN-Mut in FG did not cause the polar nuclear fusion defect

Introduction of two point mutations (H434A and Y438F) in the SUN domain impaired the binding activity between SUN2 and KASH proteins (Zhou et al., 2014). SUNDN-Mut, A mutant version of SUNDN containing these mutations, did not interact with the KASH proteins, WIP1, WIP2, and WIP3, and also lost the dominant-negative activity of SUNDN (Zhou et al., 2015b). I also generated two transgenic lines that express SUNDN-Mut in FG by heat treatment. The transgenic plants were heat treated as in the case of SUNDN transgenic lines. The efficiency of SUNDN-Mut induction in FGs by heat treatment was similar to that of SUNDN induction (Figure 10 A). However, unlike SUNDN, the expression of SUNDN-Mut did not cause the polar nuclear fusion defect (Figure 10 B). Only ~7% of tagRFP-positive ovules contained unfused polar nuclei. No polar nuclear fusion defect was observed in tagRFP-negative ovules. These results indicate that the short repetitive heat treatment at 35°C did not cause the polar nuclear fusion defect. Instead, the polar nuclear fusion defect was caused by the expression of SUNDN retaining its KASH-binding activity. Since SUN proteins function together with KASH proteins in various processes, our results strongly suggest the involvement of SUN proteins in polar nuclear fusion.



Figure 10. Expression of SUNDN in developing FGs inhibits polar nuclear fusion

(A) Percentages of tagRFP-positive FGs in a pistil; (B) Percentage of FGs containing unfused polar nuclei among tagRFP-positive and -negative FGs in pistil.

Whole inflorescences were heated at 35°C for 5 min three times (at 0, 16, and 24 h relative to the first heat treatment). Early to middle stage 12 flowers in the first heat treatment were emasculate at 20 h and fixed at 64 h after the first heat treatment. Control experiments without heat treatment were performed in parallel. Three or two independent transgenic lines expressing SUNDN or SUNDN-Mut (a mutant version of SUNDN containing mutation in the KASH-binding region), respectively, in the FG were analyzed. Statistical differences were calculated using the Tukey-Kramer method. p<0.05 is indicated by different letters. No polar nuclear fusion was observed in FGs in pistils without heat treatment ($n \ge 7$ for each line). Data represent mean \pm standard deviation ($n \ge 7$).

Discussion

In this study, I developed a new method for the analysis of gene functions in female gametophyte using a heat-inducible Cre/*loxP* recombination and the FG-specific *ES2* promoter. Chemically inducible gene expression has been widely used for transgene induction in Arabidopsis using steroid hormone-based transactivators (Moore et al., 2006). This technique has also been used for the analysis of gene function in FGs. Kawashima et al. (2014) previously used this technique for the induction of a dominant-negative mutant of *actin* in the central cell of mature FGs, and demonstrated the role of F-actin in fertilization. The gene induction system developed in this study showed efficient FG-specific gene induction by short heat treatment at 35°C.

The FG specific promoter used in this study was the *EMBRYO SAC 2* (*ES2*) promoter. Transgene expression from this promoter is detected in the embryo sac from the FG3 to FG7 stages (Yu et al., 2005). However, in our gene expression system expression of *H2B-GFP* from the *ES2* promoter was detected in FGs from the FG4 stage (Figure 5). Since the FG4 stage corresponds to the four-nucleated FG stage, our gene induction system can be used for analysis of gene functions after the FG5 stage, and can be applied to analysis of SUN proteins in the polar nuclear fusion.

The Cre/*loxP* system is a flexible and simple recombination system, which has been used to identify gene functions in mice (McLellan et al., 2017). The Cre/*loxP* system is also used in plants for targeted insertion and deletion of a DNA fragment from the chromosome (Wang et al., 2005). Heat-inducible Cre/*loxP* recombination is also used in animals. For example, human K-RASG12D protein was expressed in zebrafish embryos by heat shock

treatment (Le et al., 2007). Heat treatment of transgenic embryos at 37°C for 30–120 min resulted in Cre expression from the heat shock protein (*hsp*) 70 promoter. Cre expression was the most effective by heat treatment of embryos after 4–5 hours postfertilization or 24–25 hours postfertilization without affecting viability or development (Le et al., 2007).

In my study, I used the HS-Cre line (Ogawa et al., 2015), which express Cre from the *HSP18.2* promoter for heat-inducible Cre expression. Using the *GUS* gene as a reporter, expression from the *HSP18.2* promoter was detected after heat treatment at 35°C in tissues of the transgenic Arabidopsis plants including pistils (Takahashi et al., 1992). The use of *pCOXIV-GFP* (Maruyama et al., 2015) as a target gene resulted in no detectable Cre-*loxP* recombination in FGs in plants grown at 22°C, indicating that gene expression from the *HSP18.2* promoter is tightly repressed in the absence of heat treatment. After heat treatment of pistils or flowers for a short period of time (1–5 min), we observed efficient expression of *pCOXIV-GFP*; punctate and tubular GFP signals, which are characteristic to mitochondria staining, were observed in FG after heat treatment at 35°C for 5 min. This result also indicates that heat-inducible gene expression from the *HSP18.2* promoter and Cre/*loxP* site-specific recombination took place in FGs. In spite of the deletion of *H2B-GFP* cassette by Cre/*loxP* site-specific recombination, the nuclear GFP signals were observed. This was probably due to stability of the *H2B-GFP* fusion protein and indicates that analysis of nuclear dynamics is possible in FGs after heat induction of the target gene.

Analyses of temperature and time dependencies of gene induction showed that mild and short heat treatment of pistils or flowers resulted in efficient gene induction. The most effective temperature for gene induction was 35°C; $42 \pm 13\%$ (n = 7) of ovules showed expression of *pCOXIV-GFP* in FGs (Figure 8 A). The results are consistent with Takahashi et al., (1992), where expression of the *HSP18.2* promoter-*GUS* fusion gene was maximal at 35°C. Gene expression from the *HSP* promoters of plants including maize, tobacco, soybean and other species was all under 40°C (Yoshida et al., 1995). Analysis of time dependency of gene induction showed that efficient Cre-*loxP* recombination after heat treatment of flowers for a short period of time (1–5 min). This indicates that the amount of Cre protein expressed in a cell following a short heat treatment was sufficient for the induction of recombination between the two *loxP* sites. Since mild and short heat treatment is sufficient for efficient gene induction, the inducible gene expression system developed in this study can be used for analysis of gene functions in FGs with minimal heat damages.

I applied the heat-inducible gene expression system to analysis of gene functions in developing FGs. Expression of SUNDN, a dominant-negative mutant of SUN proteins, in developing FGs inhibited polar nuclear fusion, suggesting the involvement of SUN proteins in this process. Not all tagRFP-positive ovules showed defects in polar nuclear fusion: ~45% of tagRFP-positive ovules contained unfused polar nuclei (Figure 10 B). This was probably due to the relatively long length of the FG5 stage in female gametogenesis. FG5 ovules are found in flowers in the period between mid-stage 12 to stage 13 (Christensen et al., 1997), whose duration is expected be more than one day (Smyth et al., 1990). It is possible that the polar nuclear fusion process does not proceed synchronously in a pistil. At the onset of SUNDN expression, a fraction of FGs in a pistil probably had proceeded to steps that do not require SUN protein functions. Nevertheless, ovules from untreated pistils and tagRFP-negative ovules from heat-treated pistils did not show the polar nuclear fusion defect, indicating a correlation between the polar nuclear fusion defect and SUNDN expression. Although the tagRFP signal was observed in the egg cell and synergid cells, the tagRFP signal was strongest in the central

cell (Figure 9 C), probably because expression from the *ES2* promoter is predominant in the central cell in mature FGs (Steffen et al., 2007; reported as the *DD9* promoter in this literature).

Analyses using SUNDN-Mut, which does not interact with KASH proteins, showed the importance of the KASH-binding activity of SUNDN for the inhibition of polar nuclear fusion. Expression of SUNDN-Mut in developing FGs did not cause the polar nuclear fusion defect (Figure 10 B), suggesting the involvement of SUN-KASH interactions during polar nuclear fusion. Recent analyses have identified three WIPs, four SUN-interacting nuclear envelope proteins (SINEs), and TIK as KASH proteins in Arabidopsis (Zhou et al., 2015a). However, the role of these KASH proteins in female gametogenesis has not yet been reported. Interestingly, Zhou and Meier (2014) reported that WIPs and their binding partners, WIT1 and WIT2, play important roles in male fertility. The wip1 wip2 wip3 triple mutant and wit1 wit2 double mutant plants show male fertility defects, which are associated with impaired pollen tube reception. Moreover, these mutants show impaired movement of the vegetative nucleus in the pollen tube and inefficient delivery of sperm cells. SUN-KASH interactions appear to be important for nuclear migration in pollen tubes. Expression of SUNDN in pollen tubes also results in male fertility defects similar to those observed in wip and wit mutants (Zhou et al., 2015b). By contrast, the movement of polar nuclei appeared not to be defective in FGs expressing SUNDN. These data suggest that SUN–KASH interactions are not required for the movement of polar nuclei. Alternatively, it is possible that defects in polar nuclear movement were not visible because of the short travel distance of polar nuclei. Detailed analyses in combination with live imaging will help determine whether the expression of SUNDN is required for the movement of polar nuclei.

The yeast SUN protein, Mps3/Nep98, is also required for nuclear fusion during mating. Nuclear fusion during yeast mating can be dissected into two processes: nuclear congression in yeast zygotes and nuclear membrane fusion (Kurihara et al., 1994). In zygotes lacking Mps3, nuclear congression is not affected; two haploid nuclei are in close contact but do not fuse (Rogers and Rose, 2015). This indicates roles of Mps3 in nuclear membrane fusion, suggesting that the function of SUN proteins in nuclear membrane fusion during reproductive processes is conserved between yeast and plants.

The gene induction system developed in this study could be used for the analysis of gene functions in FG development, provided dominant-negative mutants are available. Because efficient gene induction is possible *in planta*, the gene induction system developed in this study could be used for the analysis of gene function after FG development (e.g., during fertilization) by inducing the expression of a dominant-negative mutant in mature FGs. Another possible application of this gene induction system potentially includes stage-specific complementation of loss-of-function mutants defective in FG development. The heat-inducible Cre-*loxP* recombination system is not limited to the analysis of gene function in FG. Various cell-type specific promoters are available in Arabidopsis for the expression of transgenes (Schürholz et al., 2018). By replacing the *ES2* promoter with these promoters, cell-type specific induction of gene expression is possible in somatic cells. Region-specific induction of gene expression by IR-LEGO has also been reported in Arabidopsis and Marchantia (Deguchi et al., 2009; Nishihama et al., 2016). Targeted induction of a gene expression in a specific type of cell or tissue is a promising new tool for the analysis of tissue-specific gene functions in plants at the single cell level.

References

- Adachi, S., Minamisawa, K., Okushima, Y., Inagaki, S., Yoshiyama, K., Kondou, Y., Kaminuma, E., Kawashima, M., Toyoda, T., Matsui, M., Kurihara, D., Matsunaga, S., and Umeda, M. (2011) Programmed induction of endoreduplication by DNA double-strand breaks in Arabidopsis, PNAS, 108, 10004-10009
- Brizzio, V., Khalfan, W., Huddler, D., Beh, C. T., Andersen, S. S., Latterich, M., and Rose, M.
 D. (1999) Genetic interactions between KAR7/SEC71, KAR8/JEM1, KAR5, and KAR2
 during nuclear fusion in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, Molecular Biology of the Cell, 10, 609-626
- Brukhin, V. B., Jaciubek, M., Bolaños Carpio, A., Kuzmina, V., and Grossniklaus, U. (2011)
 Female gametophytic mutants of *Arabidopsis thaliana* identified in a gene trap insertional
 mutagenesis screen, The International Journal of Developmental Biology, 55, 73-84
- Christensen, C. A., King, E. J., Jordan, J. R., and Drews, G. N. (1997) Megagametogenesis in Arabidopsis wild type and the Gf mutant, Sexual Plant Reproduction, 10, 49-64
- Christensen, C. A., Subramanian, S., and Drews, G. N. (1998) Identification of gametophytic mutations affecting female gametophyte development in Arabidopsis, Developmental Biology, 202, 136-151
- Christensen, C. A., Gorsich, S. W., Brown, R. H., Jones, L. G., Brown, J., Shaw, J. M. and Drews, G. N. (2002) Mitochondrial GFA2 is required for synergid cell death in Arabidopsis, The Plant Cell, 14, 2215-2232
- Clough, S. J. and Bent, A. F. (1998) Floral dip: a simplified method for Agrobacterium-

mediated transformation of Arabidopsis thaliana, The Plant Journal, 16, 735-743

- Deguchi, T., Itoh, M., Urawa, H., Matsumoto, T., Nakayama, S., Kawasaki, T., Kinato, T., Oda, S., Mitani, H., Takahashi, T., Todo, T., Sato, J., Okada, K., Hatta, K., Yuba, S., and Kamei, Y. (2009) Infrared laser-mediated local gene induction in medaka, zebrafish and *Arabidopsis thaliana*, Development, Growth & Differentiation, 51, 769-775
- Drews, G. N. and Koltunow, A. M. G. (2011) The female gametophyte, Arabidopsis Book, 9, e0155
- Gooh, K., Ueda. K., Aruga, K., Park, J., Arata, H., Higashiyama, T., and Kurihara, D. (2015)
 Live-cell imaging and optical manipulation of Arabidopsis early embryogenesis,
 Developmental Cell, 34, 242-251
- Graumann, K., Runions, J., and Evans, D. E. (2010) Characterization of SUN-domain proteins at the higher plant nuclear envelope, The Plant Journal, 61, 134-144
- Graumann, K., Vanrobays, E., Tutois, S., Probst, A. V., Evans, D. E., and Tatout, C. (2014) Characterization of two distinct subfamilies of SUN-domain proteins in Arabidopsis and their interactions with the novel KASH-domain protein AtTIK, Journal of Experimental Botany, 65, 6499-6512
- Groves, N. R., Biel, A. M., Newman-Griffis, A. H. and Meier, I. (2018). Dynamic changes in plant nuclear organization in response to environmental and developmental signals, Plant physiology, 176, 230-241
- Hamamura, Y. Saito, C., Awai, C., Kurihara, D., Miyawaki, A., Nakagawa, T., Kanaoka, M. M., Sasaki, N., Nakano, A., Berger, F., and Higashiyama, T. (2011) Live-cell imaging

reveals the dynamics of two sperm cells during double fertilization in *Arabidopsis thaliana*, Current Biology, 21, 497-502

- Johnston, A. J., Meier, P., Gheyselinck, J., Wuest, S. E., Federer, M., Schlagenhauf, E., Becker,J. D., and Grossniklaus, U. (2007) Genetic subtraction profiling identifies genes essentialfor Arabidopsis reproduction and reveals interaction between the female gametophyte andthe maternal sporophyte, Genome Biology, 8, R204
- Kasahara, R. D., Portereiko, M. F., Sandaklie-Nikolova, L., Rabiger, D. S., and Drews, G. N.(2005) MYB98 is required for pollen tube guidance and synergid cell differentiation in Arabidopsis, Plant Cell, 17, 2981-2992
- Kawashima, T., Maruyama, D., Shagirov, M., Li, J., Hamamura, Y., Yelagandula, R., Toyama,Y. and Berger, F. (2014) Dynamic F-actin movement is essential for fertilization in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Elife, 3, p.e04501
- Kurihara, L. J., Beh, C. T., Latterich, M., Schekman, R. W., and Rose, M. D. (1994) Nuclear congression and membrane fusion: two distinct events in the yeast karyogamy pathway, Journal of Cell Biology, 126, 911-923
- Kurihara, D., Mizuta, Y., Sato, Y. and Higashiyama, T. (2015) ClearSee: a rapid optical clearing reagent for whole-plant fluorescence imaging, Development, 142, 4168-4179
- Le, X., Langenau, D. M., Keefe, M. D., Kutok, J. L., Neuberg, D. S., and Zon, L. I. (2007) Heat shock-inducible Cre/Lox approaches to induce diverse types of tumors and hyperplasia in transgenic zebrafish, PNAS, 104, 9410-9415
- Maruyama, D., Endo, T., and Nishikawa, S. (2010) BiP-mediated polar nuclear fusion is

essential for the regulation of endosperm nuclei proliferation in *Arabidopsis thaliana*, PNAS, 107, 1684-1689

- Maruyama, D., Yamamoto, M., Endo, T., and Nishikawa, S. (2014) Different sets of ERresident J-proteins regulate distinct polar nuclear-membrane fusion events in *Arabidopsis thaliana*, Plant and Cell Physiology, 55, 1937-1944
- Maruyama, D., Völz, R., Takeuchi, H., Mori, T., Igawa, T., Kurihara, D., Kawashima, T., Ueda,
 M., Ito, M., Umeda, M., Nishikawa, S. I., Groß-Hardt, R., and Higashiyama, T. (2015)
 Rapid elimination of the persistent synergid through a cell fusion mechanism. Cell, 161, 907-918
- McLellan, M. A., Rosenthal, N. A., and Pinto, A. R. (2017) Cre/loxP-mediated recombination:
 general principles and experimental considerations, Current Protocols in Mouse Biology,
 7, 1-12
- Moore, I., Samalova, M. and Kurup, S. (2006) Transactivated and chemically inducible gene expression in plants, The Plant Journal, 45, 651-683
- Nagahara, S., Takeuchi, H., and Higashiyama, T. (2015) Generation of a homozygous fertilization-defective gcs1 mutant by heat-inducible removal of a rescue gene, Plant Reproduction, 28, 33-46
- Nakagawa, T., Suzuki, T., Murata, S., Nakamura, S., Hino, T., Maeo, K., Tabata, R., Kawai, T., Tanaka, K., Niwa, Y., Watanabe, Y., Nakamura, K., Kimura, T., and Ishiguro, S. (2007)
 Improved gateway binary vectors: high-performance vectors for creation of fusion constructs in transgenic analysis of plants, Bioscience, Biotechnology, and Biochemistry, 71, 2095-2100

- Nishihama. R., Ishida, S., Urawa, H., Kamei, Y., and Kohchi, T. (2016) Conditional gene expression/deletion systems for marchanita polymorpha using its own heat-shock promoter and Cre/loxP site-specific recombination, Plant and Cell Physiology, 57, 271-280
- Nishikawa, S. and Endo, T. (1997) The yeast JEM1p is a DnaJ-like protein of the endoplasmic reticulum membrane required for nuclear fusion, Journal of Biological Chemistry, 272, 12889-12892
- Nishikawa, S., Terazawa, Y., Nakayama, T., Hirata, A., Makio, T., and Endo, T. (2003) Nep98p is a component of the yeast spindle pole body and essential for nuclear division and fusion, Journal of Biological Chemistry, 278, 9938-9943
- Ogawa, E., Yamada, Y., Sezaki, N., Kosaka, S., Kondo, H., Kamata, N., Abe, M., Komeda, Y. and Takahashi, T. (2015) ATML1 and PDF2 play a redundant and essential role in Arabidopsis embryo development. Plant and Cell Physiology, 56, 183-1192
- Pagnussat, G. C., Yu, H. J., Ngo, Q. A., Rajani, S., Mayalagu, S., Jonhsno, C. S., Capron, A., Xie, L. F., Ye, D., and Sundaresan, V. (2005) Genetic and molecular identification of genes required for female gametophyte development and function in Arabidopsis, Development, 132, 603-614
- Pagnussat, G. C., Yu, H. J., and Sundaresan, V. (2007) Cell-fate switch of synergid to egg cell in Arabidopsis eostre mutant embryo sacs arises from misexpression of the BEL1-like homeodomain gene BLH1, Plant Cell, 19, 3578-3592
- Poulet, A., Duc, C., Voisin, M., Desset, S., Tutois, S., Vanrobays, E., Benoit, M., Evans, D. E., Probst, A. V., and Tatout, C. (2017) The LINC complex contributes to heterochromatin

organisation and transcriptional gene silencing in plants, Journal of Cell Science, 130, 590-601

- R Core Team (2018) R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Australia. URL http://www.R-project.org/
- Rogers, J. V. and Rose, M. D. (2015) Kar5p is required for multiple functions in both inner and outer nuclear envelope fusion in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, G3 (Bethesda), 5, 111-121
- Rose, M. D., Misra, L. M., and Vogel, J. P. (1989) KAR2, a karyogamy gene, is the yeast homolog of the mammalian BiP/GRP78 gene, Cell, 57, 1211-1221
- Schürholz, A. K., López-Salmerón, V., Li, Z., Forner, J., Wenzl, C., Gaillochet, C., Augustin,
 S., Barro, A. V., Fuchs, M., Gebert, M., Lohmann, J. U., Greb, T., and Wolf, S. (2018) A
 comprehensive toolkit for inducible, cell type-specific gene expression in Arabidopsis,
 Plant Physiology, 178, 40-53
- Sieburth, L. E., Drews, G. N., and Meyerowitz, E. M. (1998) Non-autonomy of AGAMOUS function in flower development: use of a Cre/loxP method for mosaic analysis in Arabidopsis, Development, 125, 4303-4312
- Smyth, D. R., Bowman, J. L., and Meyerowitz, E. M. (1990) Early flower development in Arabidopsis, Plant Cell, 2, 755-767
- Sprunck, S., Rademacher, S., Vogler, F., Gheyselinck, J., Grossniklaus, U., and Dresselhaus, T. (2012) Egg cell-secreted EC1 triggers sperm cell activation during double fertilization, Science, 338, 1093-1097
- Steffen, J. G., Kang, I. H., Macfarlane, J., and Drews, G. N. (2007) Identification of genes

expressed in the Arabidopsis female gametophyte, The Plant Journal, 51, 281-292

- Takahashi, T., Naito, S., and Komeda, Y. (1992) The Arabidopsis HSP18.2 promoter/GUS gene fusion in transgenic Arabidopsis plants: a powerful tool for the isolation of regulatory mutants of the heat-shock response, The Plant Journal, 2, 751-761
- Takeuchi, H. and Higashiyama, T. (2012) A species-specific cluster of defensin-like genes encodes diffusible pollen tube attractants in Arabidopsis, PLoS Biology, 10, e1001449
- Varas, J., Braumann, K., Osman, K., Pradillo, M., Evans, D. E., Santos, J. L., and Armstrong,
 S. J. (2015) Absence of SUN1 and SUN2 proteins in *Arabidopsis thaliana* leads to a delay in meiotic progression and defects in synapsis and recombination, The Plant Journal, 81, 329-346
- Wang, Y., Chen, B., Hu, Y., Li, J., and Lin, Z. (2005) Inducible excision of selectable marker gene from transgenic plants by the Cre/lox site-specific recombination system, Transgenic Research, 14, 605-614
- Wang, D., Zhang, C., Hearn, D. J., Kang, I. H., Punwani, J. A., Skaggs, M. I., Drews, G. N., Schumaker, K. S., and Yadegari, R. (2010) Identification of transcription-factor genes expressed in the Arabidopsis female gametophyte, BMC Plant Biology, 10, 110
- Wuest, S. E., Vijverberg, K., Schmidt, A., Weiss, M., Gheyselinck, J., Lohr, M., Wellmer, F., Rahnenführer, J., Mering, C., and Grossniklaus, U. (2010) Arabidopsis female gametophyte gene expression map reveals similarities between plant and animal gametes, Current Biology, 20, 506-512
- Yadegari, R. and Drews, G. N. (2004) Female gametophyte development, The Plant Cell, 16,

S133-S141

- Yoshida, K., Kasai, T., Gracia, M. R. C., Sawada, S., Shoji, T., Shihmizu, S., Yamazaki, K., Komeda, Y., and Shinmyo, M. (1995) Heat-inducible expression system for a foreign gene in cultured tobacco cells using the HSP18.2 promoter of *Arabidopsis thaliana*, Applied Genetics and Regulation, 44, 466-472
- Yu, H. J., Hogan, P., and Sundaresan, V. (2005) Analysis of the female gametophyte transcriptome of Arabidopsis by comparative expression profiling, Plant Physiology, 139, 1853-1869
- Zhou, X., Graumann, K., Wirthmueller, L., Jones, J. D. G., and Meier, I. (2014) Identification of unique SUN-interacting nuclear envelope proteins with diverse functions in plants, Journal of Cell Biology, 205, 677-692
- Zhou, X. and Meier, I. (2014) Efficient plant male fertility depends on vegetative nuclear movement mediated by two families of plant outer nuclear membrane proteins, PNAS, 111, 11900-11905
- Zhou, X., Graumann, K., and Meier, I. (2015a) The plant nuclear envelope as a multifunctional platform LINCed by SUN and KASH, Journal of Experimental Botany, 66, 1649-1659
- Zhou, X., Groves, N. R., and Meier, I. (2015b) SUN anchors pollen WIP-WIT complexes at the vegetative nuclear envelope and is necessary for pollen tube targeting and fertility, Journal of Experimental Botany, 66, 7299-7307

Acknowledgments

The research and writing of this thesis is dedicated to everyone who helped along the way. Foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor, Prof. Shuh-ichi Nishikawa for providing me this opportunity to participate in double degree program and introducing me to the plant physiology field. His guidance and enthusiasm helped me in all the time of research and writing of this thesis. I could not have imagined having a better advisor and mentor for my Ph. D. study. It is a pleasure to thank Prof. Gun-Do Kim in Pukyong National University to support to initiate double degree program.

I am most grateful to the reviewers, Prof. Akira Kato, Prof. Kenkichi Sugimoto, and Prof. Tatsuya Sakai for their careful revision of my thesis and valuable suggestions. I am also grateful to the faculty members of the Department of Life Sciences – especially Prof. Toshisuke Iwasaki, office staff Nirasawa san and other members of the department for their kindness and constant support.

And I would like to express my extreme sincere gratitude to Prof. Tamaki Tanaka, Faculty of Mathematical Science for introducing Double Degree Program, helping to adjust to life of Niigata, and showing beautiful Niigata area. I warmly thank all office staff of Double Degree Program – Yuka Oishi and Tomoko Miyakawa for their kindness and consideration.

I would like to show my gratitude to Dr. Taku Takahashi of Okayama University, Dr. Tsuyoshi Nakagawa of Shimane University, Dr. Daisuke Maruyama of Yokohama City University for providing plant materials. I would like to thank Satomi Wada and Azusa Takahashi in Nishikawa lab for helping and supporting my research.

I am deeply grateful to member of Nishikawa Lab – Saori Kato, Yuki Yamaguchi, Shuhei Uji, Seiya Morimoto, Yuki Fukuhara, Yuki Kojima, and Akiko Yoshii for their support and friendship during my study period. I am especially grateful to Chiharu Suzuki for having a great time together in lab and also Niigata. Without them the environment would have been different.

I would also like to thank Aiko Tanaka, Yukata Saito, Yuto Ogata for their valuable time spent together in Niigata. Special thanks to Youngji Ha for helping life in Niigata.

Last but not the least, I am indebted to my family and my friends for their love and dedicated support. Especially, I thank my beloved parents and my sister for believing in me and encouraging me.